



Supporting harm reduction through peer support (SHARPS): Testing the feasibility and acceptability of a peer-delivered, relational intervention for people with problem substance use who are homeless, to improve health outcomes, quality of life and social functioning, and reduce harms.

STUDY PROTOCOL V1.4

Start date: 1<sup>st</sup> May 2018 End date: 30<sup>th</sup> April 2020 Duration: 24 months

## **Document history**

Document owner: The owner of this document is Dr Tessa Parkes, Chief Investigator

Document Location: University of Stirling

Document status: The status for this document is 1.4

#### Version control table

Version	Revision	Previous	Summary of changes	Changes
number	date	revision date		marked
1.0	25.4.18			
1.1	28.8.18	25.4.18	Addition of Rebecca Foster (Research Fellow) details; updated health check measures; information about the health check; update to completion date of meta-ethnography; confirmation of the use of Atlas; Catriona Matheson added to project management team; confirmation of ethical approval	
1.2	1.11.18	28.8.18	Changes to data collection approach for holistic health checks; change to recruitment of Peer Navigators; amended length of interview with intervention participants	
1.3	3.12.18	1.11.18	Changes to duration of intervention for Liverpool sites and sample, in light of Peer Navigator Resignation; change in approach for participants who have dropped out (from interview with peer researcher to questionnaire); reduced number of participants for intervention interviews; change to standard care measures (from a manager or worker to researcher); updated reference list; updated study flowchart.	
1.4	23.04.19	3.12.18	Changes to staff position/role and additions to team; update on an organisational take-over; change to sample size for intervention participants and associated interviews (back to original sample size and following discussion with Research Manager on reporting practicalities); extension of recruitment period; alteration to Peer Research approach including informed consent process.	

### **Research Reference Numbers**

ISRCTN Registration details

Title: Supporting Harm Reduction through Peer Support

Trial ID: ISRCTN15900054 Date registered: 28/03/2018

Link: http://www.isrctn.com/ISRCTN15900054

Sponsor number: WT332442 Funder number: HTA 16/153/14

## **Signatures**

For and on behalf of the Study Sponsor:

Signature:

Date: 29/03/2018

Name (Please print): Joy Taylor

Position: Research Development Officer

Chief Investigator:

Signature: Date: 30/03/2018

Name (Please print): Tessa Parkes

The purpose of this protocol is to describe the study and provide information about the procedures for entering participants into the study. Every care has been taken in drafting this protocol however corrections or amendments might be necessary.

## **Contents**

Contact details	1
1. Summary of Research	5
2. Background and Rationale for Study	7
3. Research questions, aims and objectives	10
4. Health technologies being assessed	11
5. Research Plan	11
6. Settings	14
7. Design and theoretical/conceptual framework	14
8. Target population and inclusion and exclusion criteria	15
9. Sampling, recruitment and data collection strategy	15
10. Data collection, management and risk assessments	17
10.1 Data collection	17
10.2 Outcome Measures	18
10.3 Data Management	19
11. Data analysis	19
12. Dissemination and projected outputs	20
13. Project management and Sponsor	20
14. Approval by appropriate Ethics Committees and main ethical issues for the study	20
15. Patient and Public Involvement (PPI) in the study	21
16. Plan of investigation and timetable	22
References	22

## **Contact details**

## **Chief Investigator**

Dr Tessa Parkes
Director, Salvation Army Centre for Addiction Services and Research
3S26 Colin Bell Building
Faculty of Social Sciences
University of Stirling
Stirling
FK9 4LA

Tel: 01786 467747

Email: t.s.parkes@stir.ac.uk

## **Co-Investigators**

#### **Professor Catriona Matheson**

Professor in Substance Use Salvation Army Centre for Addiction Services and Research 4T26 RG BomontBuilding University of Stirling Stirling FK9 4LA

Tel: 01786 467734

Email: catriona.matheson@stir.ac.uk

#### **Dr Hannah Carver**

Lecturer in Substance Use Salvation Army Centre for Addiction Services and Research 4T26 RG Bomont Building University of Stirling Stirling FK9 4LA

Tel: 01786 467734

Email: Hannah.Carver@stir.ac.uk

### **Dr John Budd**

GP Principal
Edinburgh Access Practice
Spittal Street Centre
22-24 Spittal Street
Edinburgh
EH3 9DU

Tel: 0131 240 2810

Email: John.Budd@nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk

### **Dave Liddell OBE**

Chief Executive Scottish Drugs Forum 91 Mitchell Street Glasgow G1 3LN

Tel: 0141 221 1175 Email: davel@sdf.org.uk

#### Jason Wallace

Senior Development Officer (Volunteering and Engagement) Scottish Drugs Forum 91 Mitchell Street Glasgow G1 3LN

Tel: 0141 221 1175 Email: <u>Jason@sdf.org.uk</u>

## **Professor Bernie Pauly**

Professor
Canadian Institute for Substance Use Research
University of Victoria
Victoria, BC
V8P 5C2

Tel: 250-472-5915 Email: <u>bpauly@uvic.ca</u>

## **Dr Maria Fotopoulou**

Lecturer in Criminology 4T9 Colin Bell Building University of Stirling Stirling FK9 4LA

Tel: 01786 466335

Email: maria.fotopoulou@stir.ac.uk

## **Dr Adam Burley**

Consultant Clinical Psychologist Edinburgh Access Practice Spittal Street Centre 22-24 Spittal Street Edinburgh EH3 9DU

Tel: 0131 240 2810

Email: Adam.Burley@nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk

#### **Professor Isobel Anderson**

Chair in Housing Studies 4T13 Colin Bell Building University of Stirling Stirling FK9 4LA

Tel: 01786 467718

Email: isobel.anderson@stir.ac.uk

#### **Professor Graeme MacLennan**

Director (CHaRT)/Professor of Medical Statistics Health Services Research Unit 3rd Floor Health Sciences Building Foresterhill Aberdeen AB25 2ZD

Tel: 01224 438147

Email: g.maclennan@abdn.ac.uk

#### **Dr Rebecca Foster**

Research Fellow
Salvation Army Centre for Addiction Services and Research
4S31 Colin Bell Building
University of Stirling
Stirling
FK9 4LA

Tel: 01786 467687

Email: Rebecca.Foster@stir.ac.uk

New members of SHARPS team to specifically provide administrative and data analysis support

#### Ms Janette Clark

Knowledge Exchange Assistant
Salvation Army Centre for Addiction Services and Research
4S31 Colin Bell Building
University of Stirling
Stirling
FK9 4LA

Tel: 01786 467750

Email: Janette.Clark@stir.ac.uk

## **Ms Leanne Patrick**

Volunteer Research Assistant
Salvation Army Centre for Addiction Services and Research
4S31 Colin Bell Building
University of Stirling
FK9 4LA
Tel: N/A

Email: lep00022@students.stir.ac.uk

## Funder

This project is funded by the NIHR Health Technology Assessment Board.

# Keywords

Harm reduction, substance use, peer navigators, homelessness, feasibility trial

## 1. Summary of Research

### **Background**

People who are homeless often experience poor mental and physical health and problem substance use (1), but getting access to appropriate services can be challenging (2). Enabling the development of trusting relationships with non-judgemental staff can facilitate initial and continued engagement (3); with peer-delivered approaches being particularly helpful (4). This study will develop and test the use of a peer-to-peer (using Peer 'Navigators') relational intervention. Drawing on the concept of psychologically informed environments it will focus, first and foremost, on providing trusting and supportive relationships (5,6). Navigator is a term used for a worker who supports people through service systems (7), with such roles starting to be used in hospital and housing services in various parts of the UK. Peer is a term used to describe people with lived experience of problem substance use and/or homelessness whose lives are now stable.

### Research questions:

- 1. Is a peer-delivered, relational harm reduction approach accessible and acceptable to, and feasible for, people who are homeless with problem substance use in non-NHS settings?
- 2. If so, what adaptations, if any, would be required to facilitate adoption in wider NHS and social care statutory services?
- 3. What outcome measures are most relevant and suitable to assess the effect of this intervention in a full randomised controlled trial (RCT)?
- 4. Are participants and staff/service settings involved in the intervention willing to be randomised?
- 5. On the basis of study findings, is a full RCT merited to test the effectiveness of the intervention?

#### Aims

#### This feasibility study aims to:

- 1. develop and implement a non-randomised, peer-delivered, relational intervention, drawing on principles of psychologically informed environments, that aims to reduce harms and improve health/wellbeing, quality of life, and social functioning, for people who are homeless with problem substance use;
- conduct a concurrent process evaluation, in preparation for a potential randomised controlled trial, to
  assess all procedures for their acceptability, and analyse important intervention requirements such as
  fidelity, rate of recruitment and retention of participants, appropriate sample size and potential follow
  up rates, the 'fit' with chosen settings and target population, availability and quality of data, and
  suitability of outcome measures.

#### Design

A mixed-method feasibility study with concurrent process evaluation to explore the feasibility and acceptability of a peer-delivered, relational intervention for people with problem substance use who are homeless.

#### Settings

Three outreach services for people who are homeless in Scotland, and three Salvation Army hostels in England.

### Difference between current/planned care pathways

Two standard care settings have been selected that are similar to the intervention sites in key ways but will not have a Peer Navigator located within them.

#### Target population and inclusion/exclusion criteria

People who are homeless/at risk of homelessness with problem substance use and unlikely to achieve abstinence. Inclusion: people who are homeless and self-report alcohol or drug problems. Exclusion: those unable to provide informed consent, those under 18, those who do not use alcohol or drugs, those who do not self-identify as using substances.

#### Health technologies being assessed

Peer-delivered relational intervention drawing on principles of psychologically informed environments, providing practical and emotional support. A holistic health check using standardised measures will also be conducted by researchers (Carver/Foster) to gain an understanding of participants' physical and mental health needs.

### Sample size

We aim to recruit 60 people to the intervention with four Peer Navigators (three Peer Navigators from January 2019). Some attrition will be expected and monitored. In the event that there are more than 60 people who wish to take part, a waiting list will be kept so that if a participant drops out a new person can be engaged (up to mid-April 2019). For the concurrent process evaluation, a purposive sample of 20-25 participants (one third of the total sample of 60) will be identified for qualitative interviews at two different time-points in order to assess changes in perception of the intervention over the period. A short questionnaire will also be attempted with all participants who drop out of the intervention. The holistic health checks that are undertaken with participants will also provide data regarding their suitability of use as outcome measures for a future trial. All participants who consent to these checks will be asked if they consent to these data being used for the evaluation. These checks will be completed by a researcher (Carver/Foster), with the support of the Peer Navigator, if required by a participant. Qualitative interviews will be conducted with a purposive sample of 16 staff members across the settings where the Peer Navigators are based and the standard care settings. Qualitative interviews will be undertaken with all four Peer Navigators at three time points to assess changes in perception and practice through the intervention period.

#### Methods

The health technology being assessed is a peer-delivered (using Peer Navigators), relational intervention for people who are homeless, or at risk of becoming homeless, with problem substance use. They will build trusting relationships and offer practical and emotional support to help each person who engages to stabilise their lives. As part of the intervention, a holistic health check will be offered twice throughout the intervention, once towards the beginning and the second near the end and undertaken by a researcher (Carver/Foster). These checks will include; standardised measures of socio-demographic characteristics, housing status/quality and general health status; quality of life (SF36); substance use (SURE and MAP); mental health (GAD7/PHQ9); and relationship quality (CARE). The suitability of these measures with the target population will be assessed. The intervention will be delivered in six settings: three outreach settings in Scotland and three urban hostels in the North of England. Two services have been identified as standard care settings and researchers (Carver/Foster) will also use the measures with a sample of their residents/service users in these sites. As a feasibility study we will conduct a concurrent process evaluation, informed by Normalisation Process Theory (8), in preparation for a full trial to assess all procedures for their acceptability and analyse important intervention requirements such as fidelity, rate of recruitment and retention, adequate samples sizes, 'fit' with context and target population, availability and quality of data, the ethics/equipoise of the intervention, and the suitability of the outcome measures. Data collection for the process evaluation will be quantitative, using the socio-demographic information and health check measures above, and qualitative, using semi-structured interviews with participants, Peer Navigators, staff in service and standard care settings, semi-structured questionnaires with participants who have dropped out, and non-participant observations in the intervention and standard care sites. Data analysis will focus on how staff adopt/perceive the intervention, how those receiving it engage, and other contextual factors impacting delivery.

### **Outcomes and outputs**

Primary outcomes will be estimates of recruitment and retention of participants; assessment of participant engagement with the intervention and acceptability of intervention to participants /staff; time needed to collect/analyse data; sample size estimates; and fidelity, in order to fully inform a future trial. The specific outcome measures that will be tested for use in a trial are noted above. Using the study findings we will produce a refined intervention manual/staff training resource, a final report that addresses the research questions, and associated academic manuscripts.

## 2. Background and Rationale for Study

The proposed research addresses the NIHR commissioning brief that sets out the need for a study on harm reduction and homelessness to be done as soon as is practicable. Homelessness is a complex and multi-faceted issue involving deep social exclusion (9). It is also frequently characterised by 'tri-morbidity', a term coined to describe those impacted by both poor mental and physical health who also have problem substance use (1). Problem substance use is often a factor contributing to someone becoming homeless. It is common for people to start using substances after being homeless, with 54% trying heroin, 72% crack, 70% benzodiazepines, and 12% alcohol (10); 77% report smoking (11). Rates of use can increase as a way of coping (12). People who are homeless often report far worse physical and mental health than the general population, with greater incidences of injury, assault, infectious diseases, skin conditions, chronic health problems, nutritional deficiencies, problem substance use and mental illness (13–15). A recent study showed rates of ill-health comparable to those aged over 85 years in the general population (16). People who are homeless are also four times more likely to die prematurely than the general population, with the average age of death being 37 years for women and 42 years for men, compared with 54 and 51 years in the wider population of problem drug users respectively (17).

Homelessness has been viewed as an issue connected primarily to social care and a lack of housing, with too little focus on the significant connections to health and wellbeing (1). Despite many people who are homeless being registered with a GP, a significant number of people report that they are not receiving help with their health problems (11). This has meant that those who are homeless often access healthcare services at a crisis point, utilising accident and emergency services rather than primary care (1,16,18,19), with high cost implications for the NHS (1). Their use of such services is four times higher than the general population, costing an estimated £85 million per year (11). There is also evidence that when people who experience homelessness do access mainstream healthcare or substance use services, their needs are not well met: they can experience stigma and negative attitudes from staff, be viewed as second class citizens, and encounter inflexible services (18–21).

In terms of problem substance use, there are two main approaches to service provision: those aimed at helping people achieve abstinence and those that use a harm reduction model (22). There is debate regarding whether or not abstinence-focused interventions are effective and appropriate for this group of people with such complex needs (3). While such interventions can be effective, they rely on people who are homeless accessing services, which can be difficult. Unstable living conditions can mean that treatment appointments are missed, and plans and regimes difficult to maintain (18). For some people experiencing homelessness who use alcohol and drugs, abstinence is unlikely to be achieved, so approaches are required that reduce the harms associated with use (22–24). Since use of both alcohol and drugs is common, it has been suggested that harm reduction approaches should address both or all substances (23). Harm reduction aims to support people 'where they are at', rather than seeking particular treatment goals (25), thus facilitating autonomy. Importance is placed on the service user exercising choice to set goals and people are not forced to be abstinent (25–27). Collins et al. have discussed the importance of 'grass roots' as well as 'top down' harm reduction (28) which acknowledges the important differences between approaches that come directly from advocacy and mutual aid groups, like peerorganisations, rather than public health organisations. Despite this current literature, there is limited evidence regarding how harm reduction should be delivered to those who experience homelessness.

While interventions to improve the health of people who are homeless have received increased attention in the last decade (29), when reviewing literature to inform our response to the commissioning brief we found no relevant Cochrane Reviews. After searching relevant databases, several systematic reviews were identified which examined the effectiveness of interventions to improve health and problem substance use outcomes for those who are homeless. These reviews conclude that having primary care services tailored to those experiencing homelessness (3), case management (13,29,30), and provision of housing (29), can be effective in improving mental and physical health and address problem substance use. The Centre for Addiction Services and Research at Stirling is funded by the Salvation Army to conduct systematic reviews and meta-ethnographies relevant to their work, particularly on the intersecting issues of health, homelessness and substance use. We (Parkes, Carver) are conducting a meta-ethnography (completion November 2018) on the views of people with

problem substance use who are homeless on effective components of substance use treatment, which aims to partly address this gap.

In terms of problem drug use more broadly, there is a considerable body of evidence on the effectiveness of opioid replacement treatment, particularly relating to the prevention of drug-related deaths (31). Opioid-related deaths are a particular risk for those not in contact with drug services, many of whom are homeless (31). Needle exchange programmes aim to reduce the harms associated with injecting drugs, such as blood borne viruses and bacterial infections, as well as offering advice on minimising the harms associated with drug use, and access to treatment and other health and welfare services (32). There is evidence that needle and syringe programmes can reduce both injecting and HIV risk behaviours but be part of a wider harm reduction programme (33). The effectiveness of such programmes to both reach and then stay in contact with highly marginalised populations has been widely documented (34,35). Harm reduction services can act as a 'gateway' to other services, including to health and housing, and substance use treatment (36,37). There is thus a need for a range of approaches for those not in treatment who are vulnerable to drug-related deaths, such as people who are homeless, including provision of naloxone, heroin assisted treatment, drug consumption rooms, and assertive outreach services (31).

For alcohol use, screening and brief interventions are the most common evidence-based approaches used for the general population, although they tend to be more appropriate and effective for harmful and hazardous drinkers rather than those with severe dependence (38), and there is a lack of evidence regarding use with people who are homeless (38). There is evidence, however, that occasional detoxification and provision of medical support can improve health outcomes for street drinkers who are homeless but with the expectation that long-term abstinence is unlikely to be achieved (24). Managed alcohol programmes (MAPs) provide regulated amounts of alcohol, as well as housing and other support, as way of managing severe alcohol dependence in people who are homeless and with the aim of proactively addressing both homelessness and alcohol use (39). MAPs are prevalent in Canada, primarily in the provinces of British Columbia and Ottawa. While a recent systematic review of these programmes was unable to identify suitable studies for inclusion due to non-experimental study designs (40), there is evidence from small-scale studies showing reductions in emergency room visits, police encounters and alcohol-related harms; improved quality of life, wellbeing and mental health; retention in housing; and increased safety (39,41,42). MAPs thus show much promise for this group of people.

In terms of the wider evidence-base, studies have highlighted a number of effective components of harm reduction services. The building of trusting relationships with staff in services is key, as is the importance of service user-directed goals, and being accepted as a person (26,39). Within harm reduction services, ongoing substance use and relapse are viewed as natural and met with a non-judgemental response to continue to facilitate trusting, supportive relationships (26). Services that are accessible, with staff who are good listeners and have caring, non-judgemental attitudes, can facilitate engagement with a range of groups that can be reluctant to engage with mainstream services (43,44). A number of studies have pointed to a very basic but essential point: people should be treated like human beings with worth (25,39) which is not what this group of vulnerable people necessarily experience when they use health, substance use or social services (45,46).

The development of trusting, consistent and reliable relationships is also essential for those experiencing homelessness (25,27,39,47,48). Neale and Stevenson interviewed people who are homeless with drug and alcohol problems living in hostels to examine the nature and extent of their social and recovery capital (49). Participants viewed supportive relationships with professionals as critical to their wellbeing and future outcomes. Hostel staff were noted as going 'above and beyond' what was expected from them: being caring and responsive to needs, and protecting people (49). Developing good relationships between healthcare professionals and those who are homeless has also been found to be especially important for engagement, particularly when dealing with those with substance use issues and other health problems (3,4). Mills et al. interviewed staff working in homelessness primary care services in the UK and found that the development of trusting relationships, and listening to people well, was crucial to engagement of people experiencing homelessness in services (20). Importantly, when people who are homeless developed good relationships with healthcare professionals they would bring friends with them, thus extending reach (20). Pauly has also highlighted the importance of trusting relationships as essential to access to primary care in Canada (50). This literature has much in common with research on effective approaches for those experiencing homelessness and mental health problems: flexible services; good relationships with professionals; care based on mutual

communication and advocacy; practical support; and having workers with lived experience (51). Services viewed as 'unhelpful' had staff who were judgemental, lacking compassion and 'clinically detached' and used medical models of care that expected people to be grateful for help. Refusing to give support because of substance use also featured (51).

These findings relate to literature on psychologically informed environments, a recent development in homelessness settings which uses a psychological framework to develop services for people with complex histories to enable 'the best chance of sustainably escaping the cycle of poor wellbeing and chronic homelessness' (53, p.4). As well as having an explicitly relational focus, working actively with a person's experiences of trauma, and ensuing emotional impact, lie at the core of the approach (6). The coping strategies people develop, including substance use, are understood in this context. Psychologically informed environments aim to help people to make changes to behaviours on their own terms using supportive relationships (6).

It is also critically important to acknowledge the vital contribution made by those with lived experience to relational interventions in the housing and health fields. Peer support workers have been used in mental health settings and there is evidence that they can improve outcomes for those using services, particularly in terms of giving hope, facilitating empowerment and self-esteem (53). In terms of substance use, peer-based harm reduction services, such as the provision of safer injection advice, can facilitate engagement and reduce drugrelated deaths (14,37) through the development of trusting relationships (54-56). Peer-delivered interventions have also been found to be effective, compared to more traditional outreach interventions, in reducing the risks associated with injecting drug use. Broadhead et al. compared a peer-led HIV intervention with a traditional outreach intervention and found that having peers with experience of injecting drug use resulted in the recruitment of a greater number of service users and reductions in risky injecting behaviour (57). Similarly, Latkin et al. found that a peer-delivered intervention resulted in reductions in drug use, needle sharing and using unclean needles (58). Peer support roles have also been used in homelessness settings in the UK (Cyrenians, St Mungo's, Shelter, and Groundswell), although evaluation is sparse (59). O'Campo et al. examined the literature on community-based services for people who are homeless experiencing mental health and substance use problems and found that in one programme peer support staff were particularly effective in developing good relationships with service users (4). Research indicates that while peer workers benefit from their role in terms of increased confidence and self-esteem, and as a way of reintegrating into the community (54), there can also be challenges. Effective training, supervision and management, clear role descriptions, and acceptable pay, are all important in addressing such challenges (53,54,60). Broadhead et al., for example, recognise the potential for relapse for workers when engaging with those still using substances, and suggest the provision of good supportive 'clinical' supervision and opportunities for working in pairs (57).

Taken together, these studies highlight the importance of particular components of harm reduction that can contribute to engaging well with people who can easily become marginalised within mainstream health, social and housing services. The critical component to both good engagement, and then progress on self-identified life goals, is the facilitation of a trusting, supportive relationship. Non-judgemental attitudes are absolutely vital in engaging people with complex needs in healthcare, including those with problem alcohol and drug use who are also homeless. While there is considerable evidence regarding harm reduction approaches more generally, evidence is lacking for approaches that are both acceptable to, and effective with, people who are homeless who use both drugs and alcohol. As noted in the commissioning brief, this leaves a substantial gap in knowledge for those working in the health, social and housing sectors trying to meet this population's needs.

The proposed study aims to add to this body of knowledge, by combining some of the most effective components of harm reduction and peer delivery noted above. It will provide an explicitly relational intervention aimed at engaging with, and then actively supporting, people who are homeless to address a range of health and social issues on their own terms. It will examine whether it is feasible to deliver a peer-to-peer intervention based on psychologically informed environments that provides practical and emotional support for people experiencing homelessness and problem substance use in non-NHS settings. Holistic health checks using standardised measures of physical and mental health will also be conducted by researchers (Carver/Foster). It will assess the acceptability of the intervention, its ability to access and engage people, and appraise a range of critical intervention requirements that would need to be fully understood before proceeding to a future trial.

A study published in June 2017 in Scotland recommended health assessments for older people with problem drug use due to the multiple morbidities they experience. Many were living in temporary accommodation and 91% had experienced past homelessness (61). Modelling work undertaken by the NHS's Information Services Division as part of the study estimated that the number of older people with drug problems will continue to increase for a period of years, before stabilising, suggesting a pressing need to work more proactively and effectively with this group of vulnerable people (61). Trying to respond effectively to the many health problems connected to a person's experience of homelessness, and their wider life experiences, is therefore a public health priority. Alongside trying to deal with the causes of homelessness, including poverty, social inequalities, unemployment and relationship breakdown, effective healthcare interventions are also needed to address the intersecting health and social problems experienced by this group, reduce harms, and enhance their quality of life, relationships and social functioning. The target population are often users of hospital services in crisis situations (19), yet their health needs can be more appropriately managed in community settings, prior to crisis (3). As detailed in section 3, there is now a developing evidence base showing that harm reduction, and other targeted interventions for people who are homeless and use substances, can also have wider societal benefits. For example, hospital and emergency services often struggle to cope with the complex needs of this population (62) and early evidence suggests that targeted harm reduction services are able to reduce the number of visits to emergency departments (1,3,14) thus reducing strain on healthcare and other public services (39,41).

As we have outlined above, relational and peer-led harm reduction approaches show much promise in engaging, and then effectively working with, people with intersecting housing, health and alcohol and drug use challenges; to reduce harms and enhance physical and mental health and wellbeing, quality of life, social functioning and relationships. While there is evidence that both the relational 'therapeutic alliance' and the peer-led approach can be powerful tools for this vulnerable population, our literature searching has identified that much more rigorous investigation is required as evidence to date is based on small scale pilot studies. We are excited about the potential of contributing to this evidence base which could not be more timely. Our proposed study would make a significant and original contribution to the international and national evidence that decision makers and those in practice need, and will value.

## 3. Research questions, aims and objectives

Informed by this evidence base, our research aims to develop, implement and evaluate key features of a peer-delivered, relational intervention drawing on psychologically informed environments. While the intervention aims to reduce harms and improve the health and wellbeing, quality of life, and social functioning for those who participate, as a non-randomised feasibility study it will not assess effectiveness of the intervention.

### Research questions:

- 1. Is a peer-delivered, relational harm reduction approach accessible and acceptable to, and feasible for, people who are homeless with problem substance use in non-NHS settings?
- 2. If so, what adaptations, if any, would be required to facilitate adoption in wider NHS and social care statutory services?
- 3. What outcome measures are most relevant and suitable to assess the effect of this intervention in a full randomised controlled trial (RCT)?
- 4. Are participants/staff/service settings involved in the intervention willing to be randomised in a RCT?
- 5. On the basis of study findings, is a full RCT merited to test the effectiveness of the intervention?

#### Aims: This feasibility study aims to:

- 1. develop and implement a non-randomised, peer-delivered, relational intervention, drawing on principles of psychologically informed environments, that aims to reduce harms and improve health/wellbeing, quality of life, and social functioning, for people who are homeless with problem substance use in non-NHS settings;
- conduct a concurrent process evaluation, in preparation for a RCT, to assess all procedures for their
  acceptability, and analyse important intervention requirements such as fidelity, rate of recruitment and
  retention of participants, appropriate sample size and potential follow up rates, the 'fit' with chosen
  settings and target population, availability and quality of data, and suitability of outcome measures.

Objectives: Our research objectives are to:

- 1. fully develop the proposed intervention using co-production for use in community outreach/hostel settings with applicability to wider settings including the NHS (Phase 1);
- 2. create a manual to guide the intervention and an associated staff training manual (Phase 1);
- 3. test the feasibility of recruiting to the intervention, and measure rate of recruitment/attrition in order to determine appropriate sample size and follow up rates for a full RCT (Phases 2, 3);
- 4. deliver a non-randomised, peer-delivered, relational intervention based on principles of psychologically informed environments, with integral holistic health checks (conducted by researchers Carver/Foster) based on already identified outcome measures (Phase 2);
- 5. assess the acceptability and feasibility of all procedures in the intervention using Normalisation Process Theory, including staff and participant perceptions of its value, strengths and challenges (Phases 2, 3);
- 6. assess the acceptability of the holistic health checks, and all identified outcome measures, to determine the best way to measure outcomes for this particular intervention and population in a future randomised trial (Phases 2, 3);
- 7. assess fidelity, adherence to manual, 'fit' to context, and data availability and quality, and potential for wider adoption to NHS/statutory health and social care services (Phase 2, 3);
- 8. using all qualitative and quantitative study findings, inform the development of a future trial, if the intervention proves feasible (Phase 3).

## 4. Health technologies being assessed

The health technology being assessed is a peer-delivered, relational intervention for people who are homeless, or at risk of becoming homeless, with problem substance use. The intervention, informed by the concept of psychologically informed environments (6,52), will provide practical and emotional support, for a period of up to 12 months (12 months for the majority of the sample, some will have a short version depending on when they are recruited). Peer Navigators will support participants to stabilise their lives through the development of trusting relationships. The Peer Navigators will help people to engage with services that can meet their health and social needs on their own terms, for example in ensuring that they are registered with GPs, dentists and optician services, if they wish to be, and receive appropriate assessments by such services (11). The intervention will be co-produced in detail in Phase 1 of the study with a range of collaborators with selected expertise. When the relationship has developed, and participants are willing, a holistic health check based on the UK Guidelines for the Clinical Management of Drug Dependence (63) will be undertaken by researchers (Carver/Foster) to identify specific needs related to mental/physical health, and problem substance use (measures detailed below). These checks will be offered twice, once at the beginning of the intervention and a second time near the end. This is an essential aspect of the proposed intervention and responds to current guidance in the homelessness literature (11,61). We envisage these checks taking place in a private space with the researchers (Carver/Foster) taking sufficient time to work through each of the measures with the participant and allowing time for full discussion. The measures will be paper based and conducted in a sensitive and relational manner. The Peer Navigators will be available throughout if the participant wishes to have their support. Onward referral to specialist services will be supported by the Navigators, as required, and support will be offered for up to 12 months (between 2 and 12 months depending on the setting) and not withdrawn on the basis of continued problem substance use or abstinence. The comparator will be two standard care sites and the health care check measures will be conducted by researchers (Carver/Foster) with a sample of residents/service users in these settings.

### 5. Research Plan

The study comprises of three main phases.

Phase 1

Phase 1 (months 1-3) will address Objectives 1 and 2:

1. develop an intervention using co-production for use in community outreach/hostel settings;

2. create a manual to guide the intervention and an associated staff training manual.

The intervention will be co-produced by:

- a) experts in homelessness, inclusion and health and psychologically informed environments and relational interventions;
- b) representatives from homelessness and third sector organisations;
- c) peers and people who are homeless with problem substance use via our PPI group and the Peer Navigators;
- d) health/medical professionals from Edinburgh Access Practice.

We will create a bespoke intervention with associated manual and staff training guidance. We will do this by convening a full day meeting (month 2) to discuss the key components of the intervention and how these will be implemented. During this meeting we will plan for the intervention end point in a way that is sensitive to the fact that participants who engage will have experienced many other relationship losses. We will aim to ensure that participants are connected to other support agencies before intervention end. Following this full day meeting, the study team will develop draft versions of the intervention and training guidance for circulation to all parties. A second meeting (month 3) will then be convened to discuss the products with stakeholders including senior managers from the settings we will be using, and refine them. We will work closely with all organisations and individuals, including the Peer Navigators, to ensure that these documents meet the needs of the target group drawing on current literature and stakeholders' own experience of working in the field and/or accessing services as a service user. In line with other relationship-based therapies, manualisation of the intervention will be flexible rather than completely structured, as rigid approaches can reduce effectiveness (64); but will include instruction on psychologically informed environments, health check/measures and referral pathways. In developing the intervention/manual, we will follow the guidelines set out in the literature (65,66). The manual/guidance will be further refined post-intervention and evaluation as one of the study outputs.

#### Phase 2

This phase will address the following objectives:

- 3. test the feasibility of recruiting to the intervention, and measure rate of recruitment/attrition in order to determine appropriate sample size and follow up rates for a full RCT;
- 4. deliver a non-randomised, peer-delivered, relational intervention based on principles of psychologically informed environments, with integral holistic health checks (conducted by researchers Carver/Foster) based on already identified outcome measures;
- 5. assess the acceptability and feasibility of all procedures in the intervention using Normalisation Process Theory, including staff and participant perceptions of its value, strengths and challenges;
- 6. assess the acceptability of the holistic health checks, and all identified outcome measures, to determine the best way to measure outcomes for this particular intervention and population in a future randomised trial;
- 7. assess fidelity, adherence to manual, 'fit' to context, and data availability and quality, and potential for wider adoption to NHS/statutory health and social care services.

Phase 2 (months 4-21) is a non-randomised feasibility study that will deliver the co-produced intervention in six third sector intervention sites. Four part-time (30 hours per week; three from January 2019) Peer Navigators will be employed by the Salvation Army for a total of 18 months each to include: three months for the intervention development stage; induction/advanced training in a range of areas relevant to the intervention; recruitment to the intervention for an estimated eight weeks; 12 months for intervention delivery; and two- four weeks at the end of the intervention for contingencies e.g. final team meetings, debriefing and/or additional time if recruitment runs longer than expected.

Two of the Peer Navigators will work between three homeless outreach services in Lothian, Scotland, and two Peer Navigators (one from January 2019 due to resignation from post) will work between three English Salvation Army hostels. The Navigators are employed by the Salvation Army. Each Peer Navigator will be located in a place of work but with the original expectation that they would work across two/three settings where needed to cover holidays/absences and allow a certain degree of co-working. This is more practical in the Scottish settings due to

proximity of sites and will still be the case. While this would have been possible (though more challenging) for the English settings, due to the early resignation of one of the England based Peer Navigators, co-working will not be possible in England. The Service Manager in Bradford has agreed that other Bradford Salvation Army Staff will cover any absences by the Bradford Peer Navigator.

As part of the proposal development work, Jason Wallace (PPI lead and co-investigator) met with a group of people with lived experience of problem substance use who highlighted a number of issues which the study team needed to address with regard to acceptability of the intervention. One was the importance of practical support to attend appointments, such as bus passes and food. Participants in other studies have also highlighted the importance of receiving such practical support (51) and the positive effect it has (4). In order to provide participants with this practical support the Peer Navigators will have access to small amounts of petty cash held in the service settings.

Recruitment to the intervention will be an ongoing process, intensive in the first two months (October and November 2018), until a desired sample size of 60 participants is reached (caseload of approximately 15 per Navigator), or until mid-April 2019 is reached (combining two trial recruitment strategies identified by Thoma et al. (68)). One Peer Navigator resigned from their post in November 2018, so this caseload reflects the continuing caseload of 15 participants each for the other three Peer Navigators, and nine participants recruited until January 2019. In order to maximise the intervention resource/potential for further reach should attrition occur, a waiting list will be kept by Peer Navigators. As described in the feasibility study conducted by Ferguson and Xie, which tested a social enterprise intervention with street living youths to reduce mental health problems and high risk behaviours, for each participant that drops out, a new participant can be invited to engage in the intervention (68); in our study this 'cut off' point will be confirmed in the intervention development phase but we are planning for that as mid-April 2019. As each site has considerably more people accessing the service than the 60 needed across all six sites we do not foresee any challenges associated with recruitment in this timeframe. Assessment of this process of recruitment, and recruitment rate/retention, are included in our research aims and objectives. In light of the finding by Mills et al., that people who were homeless brought friends with them once they trusted the health care service (20), we will create the opportunity for Peer Navigators to accept word of mouth referrals, provided that potential participants attend the service setting to be properly recruited following informed consent procedures, and that there is caseload space.

Once each participant is successfully recruited to the study, following ethical standards regarding informed consent, the intervention will begin. The Navigators will provide practical and emotional support for each participant for a period of up to 12 months. An exception is for participants based in the Liverpool sites who will instead be offered an intervention for a period of 2-2.5 months. An essential part of the intervention is the holistic health check in the first few months of the intervention, with timing guided by the participant. This health check will be repeated towards the end of the intervention if at all possible. The health check will be conducted by a researcher (Carver/Foster) in the service in which the Peer Navigator is based. Participants will be asked about their physical and mental health and substance use using several standardized measures. The researchers will conduct the health check using paper-based versions of the measures, which will then be inputted into SPSS. The health checks will be conducted in a sensitive and relational manner, with the Peer Navigators being available as required by participants.

Data collection for the concurrent process evaluation will start and continue through this phase of the study with quantitative and qualitative data collection conducted across the intervention and standard care sites informed by use of Normalisation Process Theory (8). Monitoring of engagement and attrition will take place alongside the attempted follow-up of participants who 'drop out' via a short semi-structured questionnaire (all participants who drop out will be offered the opportunity to complete the questionnaire but we envisage that not all will choose to complete and some will also not be contactable). More detailed information on methods and data collection and analysis, and our use of Peer Researchers, is included below.

#### Phase 3

Phase 3 (months 18-24) will address our research objectives 3, 5, 6, 7 and 8 (listed above) and involve the analysis and write-up of all study findings (more details in substantive sections below). In addition, the

intervention manual/training guidance will be refined to ensure that fit for purpose for wider roll-out in a range of settings, and for a future trial. Findings will be disseminated to a range of audiences.

## 6. Settings

Three homeless outreach services in Lothian, Scotland, and three Salvation Army hostels in England, have been chosen for implementation of this intervention. All hosting services are non-profit, third sector housing organisations. To enable the study to assess differences between intervention and non-intervention care pathways, we have identified two standard care settings that are similar to the intervention sites e.g. third sector/type of funding/types of staff roles and numbers in place/aims of service. The intervention sites are Niddry Street Outreach Service, Edinburgh, run by the Salvation Army; Streetwork's Crisis Service, Edinburgh; and the Cyrenians' Recovery Hub (taken over by 'Change, Grow, Live' in April 2019) in West Lothian. The English intervention sites are the Orchard Lifehouse in Bradford; and Darbyshire House and Ann Fowler House in Liverpool, both Lifehouses run by the Salvation Army. In Scotland, the standard care site will be the Greenock Floating Support Service in Greenock run by the Salvation Army and Charter Row Lifehouse in Sheffield run by the Salvation Army. In terms of minimising selection bias, we have identified these two as standard care sites, from the wider pool of settings that we have identified. Whether the settings are completely comparable will be explored in the process evaluation. As non-statutory, third sector services, developed to meet the needs of their specific populations, it will be highly unlikely that any service is identical. In the two standard care sites the same health check measures will be used with a sample of residents/service users, as appropriate to these settings, in order to assess population differences and the acceptability of use of measures outside of the context of our specific relational intervention. We will also undertake non-participant observation in both intervention and standard care sites to document similarities/differences between care pathways.

## 7. Design and theoretical/conceptual framework

The relational intervention will draw on the concept of psychologically informed environments (PIES) (5,52). A recent development in homelessness services, PIEs use a psychological framework to develop services for people with complex histories to enable 'the best chance of sustainably escaping the cycle of poor wellbeing and chronic homelessness' (53, p.4). The traumatic experiences people have had, and ensuing emotional impact, lie at the core of the analysis that PIEs offer (5,6). The coping strategies people develop, including problem substance use, are understood in this context. PIEs aim to enable clients to make changes to behaviours and emotions on their own terms and supportive relationships are key in doing so (6,52). The centrality of relationships within PIEs also lies at the heart of our intervention. Currently there is limited research on PIEs making our use of this 'theory' a novel and potentially unique empirical contribution to the field.

Normalisation Process Theory (NPT) (8) will provide a framework for the evaluation (Figure 1) given it is particularly suited to evaluating complex health interventions by providing a means of improving the way that they are implemented (69).

Organizing structures and social norms - how a social context normatively accommodates a practice Organizing factors Skill set workability Contextual integration Coherence (the Cognitive Participation Collective Action Reflexive monitoring (how meaningful qualities of (enrolment and Interaction with already a practice is understood a practice) existing practices and assessed by actors engagement of implicated in it) individuals and groups) Immediate factors Interactional workability Relational integration Group processes and conventions - how a practice is produced and reproduced in actual patterns of interpersonal behaviour

Figure 1. Model of the components of NPT (71, p.541)

There are four NPT constructs: coherence, cognitive participation, collective action and reflexive monitoring (8). Coherence refers to the process of understanding that individuals/organisations go through to either endorse or prevent and intervention being embedded into practice; cognitive participation involves enrolling and engaging individuals in the new practice; collective action is the work that individuals/organisations do to embed the new intervention into practice; and reflexive monitoring refers to formal and informal appraisal of the new practice (8,69). In this study, NPT will facilitate analysis of how staff adopt/perceive the intervention, how those receiving it engage, and other contextual factors impacting delivery. Using NPT will enable better understanding of the intervention from the perspectives of all involved and inform a future trial.

## 8. Target population and inclusion and exclusion criteria

As per the commissioning brief, we aim to engage participants who are 18 years of age or older, homeless or at risk of homelessness, and who have problem substance use. The inclusion criteria for the intervention will be: people who are homeless/at risk of becoming homeless, who self-report alcohol or drug problems. The exclusion criteria for the intervention will be those unable to provide informed consent or aged under 18, those who do not use alcohol or drugs, those who do not self-identify as using substances.

## 9. Sampling, recruitment and data collection strategy

We are including some information on data collection in this section because of the nature of qualitative research connections between sampling decisions and the methods used. The sample size for the intervention itself will be 60 people, split between the four part-time Peer Navigators (from January 2019, three Peer Navigators) in each service setting (n=15 per caseload, n=9 for the Peer Navigator leaving in January 2019). The sample size of 60 was determined on the basis that, although sample sizes of between 30-50 have been recommended for feasibility studies (71,72), we expect a degree of attrition/loss to follow-up because of the unstable nature of participants' lives. In consultation with clinical colleagues we have slightly inflated our sample size based on the likelihood of 10-15% attrition to ensure participant volume (67). Importantly, a sample of 60 is also deemed a manageable caseload for the four Peer Navigators (each 30 hours per week, three from mid-January 2019), for the respective duration of their post.

There are six samples for the process evaluation: participants who complete the 6-12 month intervention will have quantitative data collected through the health checks; participants who complete the 2-2.5 intervention

will have quantitative data collected through the health checks; qualitative data will be collected from a purposive sub-sample (n=20) of approximately one third who consent to take part (including those who take part in the shorter intervention in Liverpool); participants who drop out who consent and complete a short questionnaire that seeks to learn more about their experiences in working with the Peer Navigator; Peer Navigators using criterion sampling; and service staff in the intervention and standard care settings using purposive sampling. The purposive approach will take account of the diversity of settings, gender, age, race/ethnicity, presence of disability or significant health concern, alcohol or drug use as main problem substance for participant samples for the qualitative interviews. Staff samples will be purposive based on diversity of setting, role within service, disciplinary background, gender and age. Carver/Foster will recruit the wider service staff (n=16) and support the recruitment of the participants (n=20-25) samples at each of the six intervention sites. Carver/Foster will also conduct all staff interviews using qualitative semi-structured interviews. Peer Researchers will conduct qualitative semi-structured interviews with the sub-sample of intervention participants to examine their views on the intervention at two time points - in the middle and towards the end of the intervention (see Table 1), to explore whether perceptions change over time (for Liverpool it will be just one time point due to the shorter intervention). Please see Table 1 below for more detailed information.

Table 1. Sampling, recruitment and data collection strategy

Sample	Recruitment strategy and timescale	Data collection methods and proposed sample size
1. Participants	People who are homeless with problem	As part of the holistic health check (n=60), standardised measures
receiving the intervention	substance use who are engaged with the intervention  A sub-group of those in the intervention will be identified by Carver/Foster as the process evaluation sample for qualitative data collection.  Timescale: months 9-11 and 16-17	of socio-demographic characteristics, housing status/quality and general health status; quality of life (SF36); substance use (SURE and MAP); mental health (GAD7 and PHQ9); will be used plus measures to assess relationship quality (CARE). All participants will have this information collected if they consent to the health checks and the data collection component. The health checks will be conducted twice, at the start and end of the intervention by researchers (Carver/Foster).
		Individual face-to-face interviews (n=20-25) conducted on 2 occasions by Peer Researchers approximately 20-40 minutes in duration. Interviews will examine various elements of feasibility and acceptability of intervention (except in Liverpool where only one interview will be attempted).
2. Participants	People who are homeless with problem	All participants who drop out will be provided (via the Service
who have	substance use who initially engage but leave	Manager where the Peer Navigator is based) with a short
dropped out	the intervention early, identified by the Service Manager and invited to complete a	questionnaire to voluntarily complete and return via a sealed envelope. It will seek to learn more about their experiences of
	short structured questionnaire by their	working with the Peer Navigator and the reasons underlying their
	Service Manager.	decision to withdraw their participation. This will not be shared with the Peer Navigator but go directly to the study CI.
	<u>Timescale</u> : as soon as possible after ending engagement (varies by participant)	
3. Peer	All four Peer Navigators employed for the	Individual interviews (n=4) at 3 time points conducted by
Navigators	duration of the project (n=4) in six settings in	Carver/Foster (approx. 60-90 mins). Interviews examine
	Scotland and England	recruitment, health checks and potential outcome measures,
	The second of the size of the terms of the t	training and support/supervision, fit to context, fidelity,
	Timescale: (during training/intervention	acceptability – topics informed by feasibility study literature (73)
	development, mid-intervention delivery and	
4. Service staff	towards the end of the intervention period)  Support workers, team leaders, managers/	Interviews (n=16 across intervention/standard care sites),
in intervention	other staff working in the six intervention	conducted by Carver/Foster (approx. 60 min) and examine issues
and standard	sites and two standard care settings.	listed in box above, drawing on feasibility study literature on
care settings	Timescale: months 6-12	areas of focus noted above (73)
5. Intervention/	Six intervention sites and two standard care	Semi-structured, non-participant observations in all sites to gain
standard care	sites will be included	an understanding of the of the culture and context of the
settings		settings, staffing levels, client group, activities provided, and fit
<u>-</u>	<u>Timescale</u> : months 6-12	between intervention and setting in the intervention sites

## 10. Data collection, management and risk assessments

### 10.1 Data collection

This section provides more detail on the data collection plan. As described in the plan above, data collection will be undertaken in Phase 2 of the study. Our methods have been creatively combined to form a package appropriate to the settings, the intervention and the target population, and also to meaningfully involve practitioners and peers/community members in the conception and design. as suggested by Bowen et al. (73).

Data collection for the process evaluation will involve both quantitative and qualitative data collection given this is a mixed-methods feasibility study. To explore the feasibility and acceptability of the intervention, we will conduct interviews with a range of participants at different time points, conduct observations in all sites, all guided by Normalisation Process Theory (NPT) (8). It will involve semi-structured interviews with all the Peer Navigators and a selection of other staff in the service settings who will have a view of the demand for, and the practicality of, the intervention. It will also involve a semi-structured questionnaire with intervention participants who have dropped out of the study. They will also likely have a view of the recruitment processes, the potential outcome measures and the adaptations needed to the intervention itself. The process evaluation will also gather quantitative data from the holistic health check outcome measures conducted by researchers (Carver/Foster) in the intervention settings and by researchers (Carver/Foster) in the standard care settings. The holistic health checks are part of the intervention and we will also be assessing their utility as potential outcome measures for a future definitive trial (i.e. quality and completeness of data).

A small group of Peer Researchers will conduct the process evaluation interviews with participants. Peer research has been argued to be ethically imperative, particularly in areas of social exclusion and potential objectification (74). For a study like this, it is both ethically and methodologically the best approach. As Terry and Cardwell note: 'Peer research is based on the assumption that shared experiences bring a unique quality to research; an understanding and empathy that results in a higher quality and more meaningful research process' (76, p.7). Our team believes that participants in the intervention will be more comfortable speaking with someone who has been through similar life experiences and that this will lead to 'richer', more 'valid' data being gathered in relation to participant experiences of the intervention (76). Participants will see peers with similar life experiences in multiple roles in the study. Mutual aid and peer support can be critical in supporting people's recovery from problem substance use. Accessible role models can help to challenge stigmatising views of people who use drugs and are homeless (59).

In the proposed study the Peer Researchers will be qualified partly on the basis of lived experience of aspects of severe and multiple disadvantage including problem substance use and street homelessness. They will be recruited by Scottish Drugs Forum (SDF) from their wider pool of Peer Researchers and although trained in research methods they will be further trained in our particular study methods and intervention. SDF regularly conducts research using highly skilled Peer Researchers experienced in conducting health-related research. The Peer Researchers will be actively supported by a User Involvement Officer from SDF on site during interviews.

At recruitment to the intervention, participants will informed about another associated data collection element of the study: two interviews (via the participant information sheet for the intervention itself). The Peer Navigators will remind participants about this opportunity once the intervention is under-way. Carver/Foster will work with the Peer Navigators to identify participants interested in taking part, taking account of sampling considerations. Carver/Foster will work with the User Involvement Officer at SDF to plan the data collection periods and travel and accommodation needs accordingly. A pairing or small group of Peer Researchers will then conduct semi-structured interviews with the identified sample of participants to examine their experiences of being involved in the intervention (and to address the research objectives most broadly) focusing on acceptability to their lives. The Peer Researchers will be responsible for explaining the participant information sheet for the interviews, and for formally consenting the participants to the interviews via a consent form (materials specifically for the interviews and separate to the materials for the intervention itself). Semi-structured interview schedules will be used, drawing on Bowen et al.'s (2009) general area of focus for feasibility studies (73), including the willingness of those in the intervention to be randomised in a future definitive trial. In the data collection visits to the intervention sites, they will work in pairs or threes. For the interviews conducted

at the three English sites, the Peer Researchers and the User Involvement Officer may need to stay over to allow time to conduct these. Mid-length (20-40 min), semi-structured interviews will be attempted with the same participants at two time points (during the middle of the intervention for that person and towards the end of the intervention), as per Table 1. A semi-structured questionnaire will be attempted with all participants who drop out of the study to learn more about their experiences of working with the Peer Navigator and the reasons for withdrawing, as per Table 1.

Carver/Foster will conduct all staff interviews. In-depth interviews with the four Peer Navigators (60-90 min) will be conducted at three time points (training/intervention development, mid-intervention delivery, post intervention, n=12) to explore issues connected to the acceptability of the intervention for delivery with the target group, and feasibility issues connected to the service settings. The need for adaptations to the intervention, levels of change needed to integrate the intervention into the service settings, and fidelity to it, will also be explored. Sixteen interviews (approximately 60 min) will also be conducted with relevant professionals/service managers in the intervention settings who have experienced the intervention delivery at first hand) and in the standard care settings as well. Semi-structured interview schedules for the Peer Navigators and the service staff and managers will be developed by the research team, with active input from the PPI group, using Normalisation Process Theory (8) as a framework. All interviews will be transcribed in full, anonymised and then uploaded into NVivo, for computer-assisted software support. Non-participant, semi-structured observations (77) (42 hours, split across all intervention and standard care sites) will also be done by Carver/Foster to provide process evaluation data on service contexts. Data will be gathered using fieldnotes following a semi-structured proforma (78) and observations will also be carried out in standard care pathway sites to provide additional comparison data.

### 10.2 Outcome Measures

The outcome measures that we propose using will include standardised measures of socio-demographic characteristics, housing status/quality and general health status (39); quality of life (SF36, 80), substance use (SURE and MAP, 81,82), and mental health (GAD7/PHQ9, 83,84), and a measure to assess relationship quality (e.g. CARE, 85). Please see Table 2 for further detail of the proposal outcome measures and references to these are provided in our reference list. As literacy problems are common within the target population (85), the researchers (Carver/Foster) will go through each of the measures carefully with participants, reading the statements to them. If literacy problems are highlighted as a problem they wish to address, the researchers (Carver/Foster) will pass this information onto Peer Navigators (if not already present), who can refer participants to appropriate services. Intervention participants will also be asked about their views of whether they would be willing to consent to long-term follow-up using routinely collected data and appropriate linkage in a future trial, during the interviews. Outcome data will also be collected on recruitment rate, engagement, attrition, acceptability, time needed to collect/analyse data, and ethics/equipoise of the intervention to inform a future substantive trial.

Table 2. Details of outcome measures

Measure	Key areas	Components
Demographic	Demographic	Name, date of birth, gender/gender identity, marital status, children (any under 18?),
characteristics,	information; housing	literacy/education level; Where are you currently living? Quality of housing if housed
housing and general	status and quality;	(hostel/friends/family); health conditions, medications, health status, future service
health status	general health status	use
PHQ9 and GAD7	Anxiety and	GAD7: 7 items: feeling nervous; worrying; trouble relaxing; restlessness; irritable;
	depression	feeling afraid
		PHQ9: 9 items: lack of interest; feeling depressed; sleep; energy; appetite; feeling bad
		about self; concentration; movement; thoughts of hurting self
MAP (slightly	Drinking and drug use	36 items: substance use (type/frequency/method); overdose; treatment; injecting and
amended to fit		sexual behaviour; physical and psychological health; social functioning; relationships;
homeless		illegal activities
population)		Please note, able to be slightly amended to population as not weighted/scored
SURE	Drinking and drug use	26 items e.g. drinking and drug use; self-care; relationships; material resources; outlook
		on life; importance of previous items
SF36	Quality of life	36 items: physical and emotional health status; effect on daily activities and social
		activities; pain

CARE	Empathy in context of	10 items: feel at ease; listening; being interested; understanding concerns; care and
	relationship	compassion; positive; explaining things clearly; helping take control; making plan of
		action

#### 10.3 Data Management

All Peer Researchers and Peer Navigators will be trained in data management by senior researchers from the study team. All data collected during the project by Peer Navigators, such as participant support plans, meeting notes and appointment information (using a participant ID/initials rather than names) will be stored on their password protected Chromebooks. Paper copies of assessments and other documents with personal data will be stored in a locked filing cabinet located within shared offices in all six settings and research data will be stored on the University of Stirling's Research Drive.

## 11. Data analysis

Raw data and overall scores from each of the outcome measures (detailed in Table 2 above) will be inputted into SPSS, and analysed using descriptive statistics, to gain an understanding of population characteristics in both the intervention and standard care settings, as well as to assess process issues in the collection of these data such as missing/incomplete and poor quality data, data entry issues. Analysis using descriptive statistics is appropriate in feasibility studies (86). Matheson, MacLennan Foster and Clark will be involved in the quantitative data analysis. Clark will be responsible for inputting the data into SPSS.

The Framework Method (87) will be used for the management and analysis of all qualitative data (interviews and observational fieldnotes) because of its ability to support the analysis of the six different settings as cases and because it allows straightforward within case and between case comparisons (87). Framework involves five stages: (1) familiarisation, where the transcripts are read multiple times; (2) identifying a thematic framework, whereby the researchers recognise emerging themes in the dataset; (3) indexing, which involves identifying data that correspond to a theme; (4) charting, in which the specific pieces of data are arranged in tables according to themes; and (5) mapping and interpretation, involving analysis of key characteristics in the tables and providing an interpretation of the dataset (87). Parkes, Fotopoulou, Foster and Patrick will be involved in the detailed qualitative analysis work. The observational data will be in the form of semi-structured fieldnotes.

All qualitative data will be analysed with the support of the computer software package NVivo. The staff interviews from the settings will be analysed together and will compare intervention/non-intervention differences. The interviews from Peer Navigators will be analysed together with particular issues specifically noted e.g. fidelity to the intervention, challenges with recruitment and drop out, fit between intervention and contexts. We will collect data at different time points with both Peer Navigators and participants and data analysis will specifically interrogate whether, and how, perceptions of the intervention, its challenges and benefits, changed over time. Data analysis will be iterative throughout phases 1 and 2, supported by use of Normalisation Process Theory (8) to identify contextual influences on the implementation of the intervention across the different settings.

A sub-group of Peer Researchers will be invited to participate in the data analysis and interpretation, supported by Foster and Fotopoulou. They will be provided with an anonymised selection of interview transcripts and asked to provide their interpretations of the themes arising and their significance (stages 1-3). The transcripts will be provided electronically using the University of Stirling's Research Drive and we will develop a proforma for the purpose. We will also involve the Peer Researchers in stage 5 of the analysis, as a form of 'member checking' to enhance validity and trustworthiness of the study findings (88).

We will combine the quantitative data from the socio-demographic information from participants and outcome measures, and the qualitative data from the staff, Peer Navigator and participant interviews and observation fieldnotes, using concurrent triangulation design (89). This design has a single-phase timing and generally involves the concurrent, but separate, collection and analysis of quantitative and qualitative data. Data sets are merged, typically by bringing separate results together in the interpretation or by transforming data to facilitate

integrating the two data types during analysis. Analysis will address all the research questions including whether and how a future randomised controlled trial should be conducted to test effectiveness.

The PPI group will have the opportunity to view the analysis outputs from the Peer Researchers using the proformas, and the research team using NVivo, and comment on differences in interpretations and meaning making between the two. This provides a further element of member checking for validity purposes (90) but also will ensure that the PPI group are informed about the main findings emerging from the study prior to receiving – for comment - the draft study report and other dissemination outputs in the final stages of the study.

## 12. Dissemination and projected outputs

Phase 3 will involve the dissemination of study findings to a wide range of audiences. The PPI and Study Steering Groups will advise on a dissemination strategy to ensure that findings are easy to understand and are disseminated in routes that are accessible to a wide range of audiences. We will follow the 26 item CONSORT checklist for reporting feasibility studies in our outputs (91) which will include the following:

- a final study report to NIHR and, if findings and Steering Group recommend it, a proposal for a full trial;
- revised, finalised intervention manual for effectiveness testing in a full trial;
- revised, finalised training manual for the Peer Navigators, to inform a full trial;
- at least two academic manuscripts will be written for open access publication in relevant and high impact peerreviewed journals such as Addiction, Drug and Alcohol Review, European Journal of Homelessness;
- ongoing 'blog' posts on the study via appropriate websites and social media postings using Twitter;
- a paper on the use of Peer Researchers written with the Peer Researchers as lead authors;
- a short briefing paper made available for practitioners, policy makers and other stakeholders, available via the Centre for Addiction Services and Research website on the feasibility work.

We will feed emerging and final outputs into policy and practice via the following mechanisms.

- Parkes is Deputy Convenor of the Drugs Research Network Scotland, with Matheson (Convenor) and Liddell (NGO representative), which provides a unique Scotland-wide opportunity for Involvement in the next stage of this research to test effectiveness.
- NHS Lothian colleagues will ensure that NHS Lothian are fully apprised of the feasibility study findings and their implications to create the potential for support for the next stage of the research i.e. to test effectiveness.
- Wallace will lead the production of lay summaries of the study with input from Peer Researchers and PPI group.
- External supporting organisations such as Pathway have pledged to help us to use their networks for the benefit of the study, for example by using the Faculty for Homelessness and Inclusion Health, a national network of over 1,000 clinicians focused on the care and treatment of homeless and other deeply excluded groups.

### 13. Project management and Sponsor

The University of Stirling will act as nominated sponsor for the study and actively liaise with all co-investigators throughout. Contractual agreements will be created for all partner organisations detailing levels of involvement, expected tasks and deliverables, and budgets. Project management will begin before the official start date for; ethics approvals; assembling the PPI/Steering Groups; and producing a detailed timetable to track key milestones and success factors. The project management team will be Parkes, Matheson, Carver and Foster. This team will review the achievement of allocated tasks through weekly meetings, and discuss with the wider study team if any slippage/non-delivery is encountered.

In terms of study governance, we will establish a Steering Group in line with NIHR guidance with experts from relevant fields, in addition to our PPI group. Two members of the PPI group will also sit on the Study Steering Group to ensure representation of lived experience (Wallace, Scottish Drugs Forum and Burridge, Pathway). Foster is supervised by the Chief Investigator, and the Peer Researchers will be supervised by the User Involvement Officer and other experienced staff in Scottish Drugs Forum (SDF).

## 14. Approval by appropriate Ethics Committees and main ethical issues for the study

Ethical approval has been granted by the University of Stirling's NHS, Invasive or Clinical Research Ethics Committee (NICR) and the Salvation Army's Research and Development Unit's Ethics Committee. NHS services are not being used and the study team has received a view from the South East Scotland Research Ethics Service (NHS Lothian) that it does not need NHS ethical review under the terms of the Governance Arrangements for Research Ethics Committees (letter supplied to NIHR in March 2018). All amendments to the study have been approved by both ethics committees.

The main ethical issues of this study are ensuring use of appropriate lay language, confidentiality, anonymity, data protection, undue persuasion to participate in interviews, the burden of completing two interviews, disclosure of risk, safety of all staff and volunteer Peer Researchers, the observational element of the study, and dealing with the end of the intervention in a sensitive manner. Our PPI group will ensure the use of straightforward lay language in all study documentation to service sites and participants. Foster, Peer Navigators and Peer Researchers will be asked to sign a form which states they will ensure the confidentiality and anonymity of the participants throughout the study. We will comply with the new General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) guidance (92). Peer Navigators will not be involved in the recruitment of participants to interviews – they will inform participants about this opportunity via the information sheet for the intervention, and will remind participants of this at a suitable point; Carver/Foster along with the Peer Navigators will identify potential participants (taking account of sampling considerations). The Peer Researchers will formally invite and consent participants via a participant information sheet and consent form, with support from the User Involvement Officer on site. Participants may feel the burden of completing an interview at two time points. While these interviews will be short (20-40 minutes), they do not have to participate in both interviews and can withdraw at any time.

We will comply with HRA Guidance for Informed Consent and GDPR (92). Participants will be asked to state clearly that they accept and understand limitations to confidentiality within the qualitative interviews and/or discussions with Peer Navigators. These limitations refer to disclosures of current or future intent to harm themselves or others. The disclosure from the participant must include clear indication/intent of current (active) or future threats or knowledge of significant harm towards a specified person or themselves. If such disclosures do occur, this information will be shared with service staff who will conduct a risk assessment as per their duty of care. In the event of this unusual situation occurring, Carver/Foster/Peer Researcher/Peer Navigator who has taken the disclosure would call the Chief Investigator to inform her, with an adverse events form completed.

As noted above, non-participant observation will be undertaken in both intervention and standard care settings to gain an understanding of the context of all settings. This will be part of the ethics application and will not be covert. Individual observations will also be strictly limited. Permission to conduct observations will be sought from managers prior to ethics application. Posters will be placed in the sites to inform staff, intervention participants, and other residents/service users that observations will be taking place on particular days/times, and these will explain what information will be captured in these observations. Carver/Foster will conduct the observations and will answer any questions regarding the process. No individual consultations will be observed, and the observations will only take place in communal areas of the outreach services and Lifehouses, so informed consent will not be required from individuals (93,94). If a person does not want to be observed, Carver/Foster will stop or take a break.

## 15. Patient and Public Involvement (PPI) in the study

Peer involvement is integral to our study in all key areas. We will have different levels of PPI in the study: co-investigators within the study team; two PPI members on the Study Steering group; a PPI group; the Peer Navigators; and Peer Researchers. Scottish Drugs Forum (SDF) is commissioned by Scottish Government to articulate the opinions/experiences of those directly affected by drug use to policymakers, and those running drugs services. Two co-investigators are members of SDF staff: Dave Liddell is CEO and Jason Wallace is the Senior Development Officer (Volunteering and Engagement) (formerly National Naloxone Training Support Officer). Jason has extensive expertise in collaborative peer-led research projects and has been involved in all aspects of this study's design/development. As part of the proposal he met with a group of people with lived experience of problem substance use who highlighted additional issues to be addressed e.g. the need for

continued engagement if a participant becomes abstinent; for continuity of care for duration of project; the importance of practical support to attend appointments (bus passes, food); and appropriate training/supervision for peer workers. Jason Wallace will sit on the Study Steering Group, alongside Stan Burridge as Pathway's Expert by Experience Project Lead, to ensure inclusion of lived experience experts from both countries. Peer Researchers will be involved in data collection and analysis/meaning-making, as described in detail above.

We have identified a PPI group who will meet face-to-face four times and by conference call three times during the study to discuss the intervention and study development, evaluation analysis, implications and outputs. The group will be led by Jason Wallace, Co-Investigator All members will be reimbursed for their time and receive expenses. We will follow the guidance in the NIHR INVOLVE briefing notes regarding our PPI work (95).

## 16. Plan of investigation and timetable

The key tasks/milestones over the two-year study duration are listed in a separate Project Management Plan and a flowchart of the study in Appendix 1.

#### Key success criteria for the study

- University of Stirling and Salvation Army ethics applications submitted and approved;
- Completion of each phase of the study, as set out in the timetable;
- Successful recruitment of the target sample of 60 participants, and adequate retention to ensure sufficient participant 'volume' to the end of the intervention period;
- Collection and analysis of all required data to inform a future definitive randomised controlled trial;
- Production of study report addressing all research questions, meeting study aims and objectives, and refinement of the intervention manual and staff training resource.

### Key risk factors for the study and their management

We recognise that there are a number of risks to progress within this project and only some can be fully considered in advance. During Phase 1 we will develop a risk assessment proforma and some examples that we have carefully considered have been provided in Table 3 below.

Table 3. Key potential risks and mitigation

Potential risk	How we intend to mitigate/manage risk
Study processes	
Delay in ethics approval	Ethical approval gained before project start. 90% of PVG checks completed in 14 days; 4-6
and PVG approvals	weeks between Navigators being in post & having contact with service users providing time
	for PVG checks
Study sites involved not	Support of all participating study sites secured. Streetwork are funded on a short-term basis
cooperating or funded	so if they lose funding we will work with Salvation Army, to identify another setting
Delays in recruiting to	Posters will advertise intervention and Navigators will work with staff in settings to accept
the	referrals. Sample size is relatively small. Team has considerable expertise in working with
intervention/attrition	target population. Informed consent process will seek permission for follow-up
	contact/interview and wait list will be kept
Intervention fidelity	Peer Navigators will be trained in the intervention and relevant skills, and fidelity will be
	assessed
Data from potential	We will work closely with CHaRT to ensure measures used are appropriate and that
outcome measures is	Carver/Foster are fully trained in their use. Data will be monitored regularly to ensure quality
poor	is high/consistent
Peer Navigators	
Difficulties recruiting	We will work closely with Scottish Drugs Forum (SDF)/Pathway to recruit Peer Navigators.
Peer Navigators	Initial feedback on the Peer Navigator role from SDF volunteers was very positive
Peer Navigator(s) leaves	We will recruit another Peer Navigator. If there is a gap between the current staff leaving
the project early	and starting, additional hours can be offered to the other worker
Staff illness or absence –	Short-term absences: additional hours offered to the second Peer Navigator; long-term
Peer Navigators	absences: recruit again. Navigators employed by Salvation Army, an experienced employer

Peer Navigators may	Support will be put in place to ensure that the Peer Navigators are well-trained/supported
experience triggers that	and able to identify any such triggers in advance; all at least 2-3 years post problem
cause them to relapse	substance use. They will have supervision, day-to-day support onsite, support from study
	team and informal peer support
Peer Navigators not	Peer Navigators employed by TSA and Centre for Addiction Services and Research
subject to Stirling Data	established to support TSA in their partnerships. We will seek advice from TSA's R&D
Protection	Department to ensure coverage
Research	
Difficulties in recruiting	SDF regularly conducts research using Peer Researchers and has successfully delivered a
Peer Researchers	range of projects. SDF also has the capacity to support the short-term redeployment of
	staff/volunteers
Recruitment issues	SDF's Peer Researchers are experienced in recruiting from vulnerable groups
Relapse of substance use	SDF employ a Volunteer Coordinator to ensure there is robust support in place for volunteers
for Peer Researchers	with lived experience. A Distress Protocol will ensure that negative consequences of
	interviews are dealt with
Poor quality of data	Peer Researchers will have skills necessary to gather high quality data, data will also be
	monitored.
Emotional impact of	Following each interview Peer Researchers will have verbal debrief with User Involvement
research on Peer	Officer. 30 minute break between each interview. If needed peer researcher can cancel
Researchers	further interviews, which will be covered by another peer researcher, until they feel able to
	return to interviewing

### References

- 1. Hewett N and Halligan A. Homelessness is a healthcare issue. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine* 2010;103(8):306–307.
- 2. Neale J. Homelessness amongst drug users: A double jeopardy explored. *International Journal of Drug Policy* 2001;12(4):353–369.
- 3. Hwang SW and Burns T. Health interventions for people who are homeless. *The Lancet* 2014;384(9953):1541–1547.
- 4. O'Campo P, Kirst M, Schaefer-Mcdaniel N, Firestone M, Scott A and McShane K. Community-based services for homeless adults experiencing concurrent mental health and substance use disorders: a realist approach to synthesizing evidence. *Journal of Urban Health* 2009;86(6):965–989.
- 5. Johnson R and Haigh R. Social psychiatry and social policy for the 21st Century new concepts for new needs: The "psychologically informed environment." *Mental Health and Social Inclusion* 2010;14(4):30–35.
- 6. Breedvelt J. *Psychologically informed environments: A literature review*. 2016. Available from: <a href="https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/pies-literature-review.pdf">https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/pies-literature-review.pdf</a> [Accessed March 23 2017].
- 7. Goodall C and Lowe D. *Navigator Scotland 6 months on*. 2016. Available from: http://www.actiononviolence.org.uk/news-and-blog/navigator-0 [Accessed: March 31 2017]
- 8. May C, Rapley T, Mair F, Treweek S, Murray E, Ballini L, Macfarlane A, Girling M and Finch T. *Normalization process theory*. 2015. Available from: <a href="http://www.normalizationprocess.org/what-is-npt/npt-core-constructs/">http://www.normalizationprocess.org/what-is-npt/npt-core-constructs/</a> [Accessed: March 23 2017].
- 9. Fitzpatrick S, Johnsen S and White M. Multiple exclusion jomelessness in the UK: Key patterns and intersections. *Social Policy and Society* 2011;10(4):501–512
- 10. Fountain J and Howes S. *Home and dry? Homelessness and substance use*. 2002. Available from: <a href="http://www.drugsandhousing.co.uk/homeanddrycrisis.pdf">http://www.drugsandhousing.co.uk/homeanddrycrisis.pdf</a> [Accessed: March 21 2017].
- 11. Homeless Link. *The unhealthy state of homelessness: Health audit results*. 2014. Available from: http://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/The unhealthy state of homelessness FINAL.pdf [Accessed: July 14 2017].
- 12. Crisis. Homelessness: A silent killer: A research briefing on mortality amongst homeless people. 2011. Available from: <a href="https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/237321/crisis\_homelessness\_a\_silent\_killer\_2011.pdf">https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/237321/crisis\_homelessness\_a\_silent\_killer\_2011.pdf</a> [Accessed: March 15 2017].
- 13. Hwang SW, Tolomiczenko G, Kouyoumdjian FG and Garner RE. Interventions to improve the health of the homeless: A systematic review. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 2005;29(4):311e1-e8.

- 14. Wright NMJ and Tompkins CNE. How can health services effectively meet the health needs of homeless people? *British Journal of General Practice* 2006;56(525):286–293.
- 15. Ijaz S, Jackson J, Thorley H, Porter K, Fleming C, Richards A, Bonner A and Savović J. Nutritional deficiencies in homeless persons with problematic drinking: A systematic review. *International Journal for Equity in Health* 2017;16(1):71.
- 16. Queen AB, Lowrie R, Richardson J and Williamson AE. Multimorbidity, disadvantage, and patient engagement within a specialist homeless health service in the UK: An in-depth study of general practice data. *BJGP Open* 2017;0641:1–10.
- 17. Morrison DS. Homelessness as an independent risk factor for mortality: Results from a retrospective cohort study. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 2009;38(3):877–883.
- 18. Anderson I and Ytrehus S. Re-conceptualising approaches to meeting the health needs of homeless people. *Journal of Social Policy* 2012;41(3):551–568.
- 19. Wise C and Phillips K. Hearing the silent voices: Narratives of health care and homelessness. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing* 2013;34(5):359–367.
- 20. Mills ED, Burton CD and Matheson C. Engaging the citizenship of the homeless: A qualitative study of specialist primary care providers. *Family Practice* 2015;32(4):462–467.
- 21. Pauly B, McCall J, Browne AJ, Parker J and Mollison A. Toward cultural safety. *Advances in Nursing Science* 2015;38(2):121–135.
- Pleace N. Effective services for substance misuse and homelessness in Scotland: Evidence from an international review. 2008. Available from:
   https://www.york.ac.uk/media/chp/documents/2008/substancemisuse.pdf
   [Accessed: March 15 2017].
- 23. National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health. *Alcohol-use disorders: The NICE guideline on diagnosis, assessment and management of harmful drinking and alcohol dependence*. 2011. Available from: <a href="https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg115/evidence/full-guideline-136423405">https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg115/evidence/full-guideline-136423405</a> [Accessed: March 15 2017].
- 24. Raistrick D, Heather N and Godfrey C. *Review of the effectiveness of treatment for alcohol problems*. 2006. Available from:

  <a href="http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/nta-review-of-the-effectiveness-of-treatment-for-alcohol-problems-ful-lreport-2006-alcohol2.pdf">http://www.nta.nhs.uk/uploads/nta-review-of-the-effectiveness-of-treatment-for-alcohol-problems-ful-lreport-2006-alcohol2.pdf</a> [Accessed: March 1 2017].
- 25. Collins SE, Jones CB, Hoffmann G, Nelson LA, Hawes SM, Grazioli VS, Mackelprang JL, Holttum J, Kaese G, Lenert J, Herndon P, and Clifasefi SL. In their own words: Content analysis of pathways to recovery among individuals with the lived experience of homelessness and alcohol use disorders. *International Journal of Drug Policy* 2016;27:89–96.
- 26. Mancini MA, Linhorst DM, Broderick F and Bayliff S. Challenges to implementing the harm reduction approach. *Journal of Social Work Practice in the Addictions* 2008;8(3):380–408.
- 27. Lee HS and Petersen SR. Demarginalizing the marginalized in substance abuse treatment: Stories of homeless, active substance users in an urban harm reduction based drop-in center. *Addiction Research and Theory* 2009;17(6):622–636.
- 28. Collins SE, Clifasefi SL, Logan D., Samples L, Somers J and Marlatt GA. Chapter 1: Current status, historical highlights and basic principles of harm reduction. In: Marlatt GA, Witkiewitz K, Larimer ME, (eds.) *Harm reduction: Pragmatic strategies for managing high-risk behaviors*. New York: Guilford; 2011. p. 3–35.
- 29. Fitzpatrick-Lewis D, Ganann R, Krishnaratne S, Ciliska D, Kouyoumdjian F and Hwang SW. Effectiveness of interventions to improve the health and housing status of homeless people: A rapid systematic review. *BMC Public Health* 2011;11(1):638.
- 30. De Vet R, Van Luijtelaar MJ., Brilleslijper-Kater SN, Vanderplasschen W, Beijersbergen MD and Wolf JRL. Effectiveness of case management for homeless persons: A systematic review. *American Journal of Public Health* 2013;103(10):e13–26.
- 31. Iverson L. *Reducing opioid-related deaths in the UK*. 2016. Available from: <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/576560/ACMD-Drug-Related-Deaths-Report-161212.pdf">https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/576560/ACMD-Drug-Related-Deaths-Report-161212.pdf</a> [Accessed: March 1 2017].
- 32. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *Needle and syringe programmes (PH52)*. 2014. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph52 [Accessed: March 21 2017].
- 33. Aspinall EJ, Nambiar D, Goldberg DJ, Hickman M, Weir A, Van Velzen E, Palmateer N, Doyle JS, Hellard ME and Hutchinson SJ. Are needle and syringe programmes associated with a reduction in HIV transmission

- among people who inject drugs: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 2014;43(1):235–248.
- 34. Hedrich D, Kerr T and Dubois-Arber F. *Drug consumption facilities in Europe and beyond. Harm reduction:* evidence, impacts and challenges. 2010. Available from:

  <a href="http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/attachements.cfm/att\_101273\_EN\_emcdda-harm%20red-mon-ch11-web.pdf">http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/attachements.cfm/att\_101273\_EN\_emcdda-harm%20red-mon-ch11-web.pdf</a> [Accessed: March 20 2017].
- 35. Potier C, Laprévote V, Dubois-Arber F, Cottencin O and Rolland B. Supervised injection services: What has been demonstrated? A systematic literature review. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence* 2014;145:48–68.
- 36. Pauly B, Reist D, Belle-Isle L and Schactman C. Housing and harm reduction: What is the role of harm reduction in addressing homelessness? *International Journal of Drug Policy* 2013;24(4):284–290.
- 37. McNeil R and Small W. "Safer environment interventions": A qualitative synthesis of the experiences and perceptions of people who inject drugs. *Social Science and Medicine* 2014;106:151–158.
- 38. O'Donnell A, Anderson P, Newbury-Birch D, Schulte B, Schmidt C, Reimer J and Kaner, E. The impact of brief alcohol interventions in primary healthcare: A systematic review of reviews. *Alcohol and Alcoholism* 2014;49(1):66–78.
- 39. Pauly B, Gray E, Perkin K, Chow C, Vallance K, Krysowaty B and Stockwell T. Finding safety: A pilot study of managed alcohol program participants' perceptions of housing and quality of life. Harm Reduction Journal 2016;13(1):15.
- 40. Muckle W, Muckle J, Welch V and Tugwell P. Managed alcohol as a harm reduction intervention for alcohol addiction in populations at high risk for substance abuse. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2012. Available from: <a href="http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23235633">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23235633</a> [Accessed: March 1 2017].
- 41. Podymow T, Turnbull J, Coyle D, Yetisir E and Wells G. Shelter-based managed alcohol administration to chronically homeless people addicted to alcohol. *Canadian Medical Association Journal* 2006;174(1):45–49.
- 42. Stockwell T, Pauly B, Chow C, Vallance K and Perkin K. Evaluation of a managed alcohol program in Vancouver, BC: Early findings and reflections on alcohol harm reduction. 2013. Available from: <a href="https://www.uvic.ca/research/centres/carbc/assets/docs/bulletin9-evaluation-managed-alcohol-program.pdf">https://www.uvic.ca/research/centres/carbc/assets/docs/bulletin9-evaluation-managed-alcohol-program.pdf</a> [Accessed: March 15 2017].
- 43. Hines L. The treatment views and recommendations of substance abusing women: A meta-synthesis. *Qualitative Social Work* 2013;12(4):473–489.
- 44. Stead M, Parkes T, Nicoll A, Wilson S, Burgess C, Eadie D, Fitzgerald N, McKell J, Reid G, Jepson R, McAteer J and Bauld L. Delivery of alcohol brief interventions in community-based youth work settings: Exploring feasibility and acceptability in a qualitative study. *BMC Public Health* 2017;17(1):357.
- 45. Neale J, Tompkins C and Sheard L. Barriers to accessing generic health and social care services: a qualitative study of injecting drug users. *Health and Social Care in the Community* 2008;16(2):147–154.
- 46. Van Boekel LC, Brouwers EPM, Van Weeghel J and Garretsen HFL. Stigma among health professionals towards patients with substance use disorders and its consequences for healthcare delivery: Systematic review. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence* 2013;131(1-3):23–35.
- 47. McNeil R, Kerr T, Pauly B, Wood E and Small W. Advancing patient-centered care for structurally vulnerable drug-using populations: A qualitative study of the perspectives of people who use drugs regarding the potential integration of harm reduction interventions into hospitals. *Addiction* 2015;111(4):685–694.
- 48. Tiderington E, Stanhope V and Henwood BF. A qualitative analysis of case managers' use of harm reduction in practice. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment* 2013;44(1):71–77.
- 49. Neale J and Stevenson C. Social and recovery capital amongst homeless hostel residents who use drugs and alcohol. *International Journal of Drug Policy* 2015;26(5):475–483.
- 50. Pauly B. Close to the street: Nursing practice with people marginalized by homelessness and substance use. In: Guirguis-Younger M, McNeil R, Hwang SW, (eds.) *Homelessness and health in Canada*. Ottawa: University of Ottawa Press; 2014. p. 211-232.
- 51. Voronka J, Harris DW, Grant J, Komaroff J, Boyle D and Kennedy A. Un/helpful help and its discontents: Peer researchers paying attention to street life narratives to inform social work policy and practice. *Social Work in Mental Health* 2014;12(3):249–279.
- 52. Keats H, Maguire N, Johnson R and Cockersall P. *Psychologically informed services for homeless people: Good practice guide*. 2012. Available from: <a href="http://eprints.soton.ac.uk/340022/">http://eprints.soton.ac.uk/340022/</a> [Accessed: March 21 2017].
- 53. Repper J and Carter T. A review of the literature on peer support in mental health services. Journal of Mental

Health 2011;20(4):392-411.

s 2017.pdf [Accessed: July 14 2017].

- 54. Walker G and Bryant W. Peer support in adult mental health services: A metasynthesis of qualitative findings. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal* 2013;36(1):28–34.
- 55. Parkes T, MacAskill S, Brooks O, Jepson R, Atherton I, Doi L, McGhee S and Eadie D. *Prison health needs assessment for alcohol problems*. 2011. Available from: <a href="http://www.ohrn.nhs.uk/resource/policy/PrisonHealthNeedsAssessmentAlcohol.pdf">http://www.ohrn.nhs.uk/resource/policy/PrisonHealthNeedsAssessmentAlcohol.pdf</a> [Accessed: March 1 2017].
- 56. Matheson C, Liddell D, Hamilton E and Wallace J. *Older people with drug problems in Scotland: a mixed methods study exploring health and social support needs*. 2017. Available from: <a href="http://www.sdf.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/OPDP-mixed-methods-research-report-PDF.pdf">http://www.sdf.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/OPDP-mixed-methods-research-report-PDF.pdf</a> [Accessed March 21 2017].
- 57. Broadhead RS, Heckathorn DD, Weakliem DL, Anthony DL, Madray H, Mills RJ, and Hughes J. Harnessing peer networks as an instrument for AIDS prevention: Results from a peer-driven intervention. *Public Health Reports* 1998;113(1):42–57.
- 58. Latkin CA, Sherman S and Knowlton A. HIV prevention among drug users: Outcome of a network-oriented peer outreach intervention. *Health Psychology* 2003;22(4):332–339.
- 59. Barker SL, Maguire N. Experts by experience: Peer support and its use with the homeless. *Community Mental Health Journal* 2017;53(5):598–612.
- 60. Pitt V, Lowe D, Hill S, Prictor M, Hetrick SE, Ryan R and Berends L. Consumer-providers of care for adult clients of statutory mental health services. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2013. Available from: <a href="http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD004807.pub2/epdf">http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD004807.pub2/epdf</a> [Accessed: March 21 2017] .
- 61. The Expert Working Group on Older People with a Drug Problem. *Older people with drug problems in Scotland: Addressing the needs of an ageing population*. 2017. Available from: <a href="http://www.sdf.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Working-group-report-OPDPs-in-2017.pdf">http://www.sdf.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Working-group-report-OPDPs-in-2017.pdf</a> [Accessed March 21 2017].
- 62. St Mungo's. *Health and homelessness: Understanding the costs and role of primary care services for homeless people*. 2013. Available from: <a href="http://www.mungos.org/documents/4153/4153.pdf">http://www.mungos.org/documents/4153/4153.pdf</a> [Accessed: July 13 2017].
- 63. Independent Expert Working Group. *Clinical guidelines on drug misuse and dependence update 2017*.2017. Available from: <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/628634/clinical\_guideline">https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/file/628634/clinical\_guideline</a>
- 64. Lundahl BW, Kunz C, Brownell C, Tollefson D and Burke BL. A meta-analysis of motivational interviewing: Twenty-five years of empirical studies. *Research on Social Work Practice* 2010;20(2):137–160.
- 65. Ukoumunne OC, Guilliford M, Chinn S, Sterne JAC and Burney PG. Methods for evaluating area-wide and organisation-based interventions in health and health care: A systematic review. *Health Technology Assessment* 1999;3(5):1–98.
- 66. Campbell M, Fitzpatrick R, Haines A, Kinmonth AL, Sandercock P, Spiegelhalter D and Tyrer P. Framework for design and evaluation of complex interventions to improve health. *British Medical Journal* 2000;321(7262):694–696.
- 67. Thoma A, Farrokhyar F, McKnight L and Bhandari M. How to optimize patient recruitment. *Canadian Journal of Surgery* 2010;53(3):205–210.
- 68. Ferguson KM and Xie B. Feasibility study of the social enterprise intervention with homeless youth. *Research on Social Work Practice* 2008;18(1):5–19.
- 69. McEvoy R, Ballini L, Maltoni S, O'Donnell CA, Mair FS and MacFarlane A. A qualitative systematic review of studies using the normalization process theory to research implementation processes. *Implementation Science* 2014;9(1):2.
- 70. May C and Finch T. Implementing, embedding, and integrating practices: An outline of Normalization Process Theory. *Sociology* 2009;43(3):535–554.
- 71. Lancaster GA, Dodd S and Williamson PR. Design and analysis of pilot studies: Recommendations for good practice. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice* 2004;10(2):307–312.
- 72. Sim J and Lewis M. The size of a pilot study for a clinical trial should be calculated in relation to considerations of precision and efficiency. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 2012;65(3):301–308.

- 73. Bowen DJ, Kreuter M, Spring B, Cofta-Woerpel L, Linnan L, Weiner D, Bakken S, Kaplan CP, Squiers L, Fabrizio C, and Fernandez M. How we design feasibility studies. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 2009;36(5):452–457.
- 74. De Winter M and Noom M. Someone who treats you as an ordinary human being...homeless youth examine the quality of professional care. *British Journal of Social Work* 2003;33(3):325–337.
- 75. Terry L and Cardwell V. *Refreshing perspectives: Exploring the application of peer research with populations facing severe and multiple disadvantage*. 2016. Available from: <a href="http://www.revolving-doors.org.uk/documents/refreshing-perspectives/?preview=true">http://www.revolving-doors.org.uk/documents/refreshing-perspectives/?preview=true</a> [Accessed: July 14 2017].
- 76. Scottish Drugs Forum. *The peer research model*. 2017. Available from: <a href="http://www.sdf.org.uk/what-we-do/involving-users-peer-research/peer-research-model/">http://www.sdf.org.uk/what-we-do/involving-users-peer-research/peer-research-model/</a> [Accessed: July 13 2017].
- 77. Gillham B. *Observation techniques: Structured to unstructured*. London: Continuum International Publishing Group; 2008.
- 78. Barbour R. Introducing qualitative research: A student's guide. London: SAGE Publications Ltd; 2014.
- 79. RAND Health. 36-Item Short Form Survey (SF-36). 2018 Available from: <a href="https://www.rand.org/health/surveys">https://www.rand.org/health/surveys</a> tools/mos/36-item-short-form.html [Accessed July 27 2018].
- 80. Neale J, Vitoratou S, Finch E, Lennon P, Mitcheson L, Panebianco D, Rose D, Strang J, Wykes T and Marsden J. Development and validation of "SURE": a patient reported outcome measure (PROM) for recovery from drug and alcohol dependence. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence* 2016;165:159–167.
- 81. Marsden J, Gossop M, Stewart D, Best D, Farrell M, Strang J. Maudsley Addiction Profile. 1998. Available from: http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/html.cfm/index3667EN.html [Accessed June 28 2018].
- 82. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Löwe B. A Brief Measure for Assessing Generalized Anxiety Disorder. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 2006;166(10):1092.
- 83. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL. The PHQ-9: A New Depression Diagnostic and Severity Measure. *Psychiatric Annals* 2002;32(9):509–515.
- 84. Mercer S. *CARE Patient Feedback Measure*. 2017. Available from: <a href="http://www.caremeasure.org/">http://www.caremeasure.org/</a> [Accessed March 31 2017].
- 85. Dumoulin D, Jones K. *Reading counts: why English and maths skills matter in tackling homelessness*. 2014. Available from: http://www.mungosbroadway.org.uk/documents/5078/5078.pdf [Accessed July 10 2017].
- 86. Tickle-Degnen L. Nuts and bolts of conducting feasibility studies. American Journal of Occupational Therapy. 2013;67(2):171–176.
- 87. Ritchie J and Lewis J. *Qualitative research practice: A guide for social science students and researchers*. London: SAGE Publications Ltd; 2003.
- 88. Birt L, Scott S, Cavers D, Campbell C, Walter F. Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research* 2016;26(13):1802–1811.
- 89. Creswell JW, Plano Clark VL, Gutmann ML, Hanson WE. Advanced mixed methods research designs. In: Tashakkori A, Teddlie C, (eds.) *Handbook on mixed methods in the behavioral and social sciences*. Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications, Inc.; 2003. p. 209–40.
- 90. Creswell JW, Miller DL. Determining validity in qualitative inquiry. *Theory into Practice* 2000;39(3):124–130.
- 91. Eldridge SM, Lancaster GA, Campbell MJ, Thabane L, Hopewell S, Coleman CL and Bond CM. Defining feasibility and pilot studies in preparation for randomised controlled trials: Development of a conceptual framework. *PLoS One* 2016;11(3):1–22.
- 92. EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). EU GDPR Portal. 2018. Available from: <a href="https://www.eugdpr.org/">https://www.eugdpr.org/</a> [Accessed: March 30 2018].
- 93. Ensign J. Ethical issues in qualitative health research with homeless youths. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 2003;43(1):43–50.
- 94. Hoolachan JE. Ethnography and homelessness research. *International Journal of Housing Policy* 2016;16(1):31–49.
- 95. National Institute for Health Research INVOLVE. *Briefing notes for researchers*. 2017. Available from:

http://www.invo.org.uk/resource-centre/resource-for-researchers/ [Accessed: July 12 2017].

## Appendix 1: Flowchart

## **SHARPS** study flowchart

